

Interleukin-6 for diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill adult patients (Protocol)

Molano Franco D, Arevalo-Rodriguez I, Roqué i Figuls M, Zamora J

Molano Franco D, Arevalo-Rodriguez I, Roqué i Figuls M, Zamora J. Interleukin-6 for diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill adult patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015, Issue 7. Art. No.: CD011811. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011811.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	 1
ABSTRACT	 1
BACKGROUND	 1
OBJECTIVES	 3
METHODS	 4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	 6
REFERENCES	 6
APPENDICES	 9
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	 14
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	 14
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	 14

[Diagnostic Test Accuracy Protocol]

Interleukin-6 for diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill adult patients

Daniel Molano Franco¹, Ingrid Arevalo-Rodriguez², Marta Roqué i Figuls³, Javier Zamora⁴

¹Department of Critical Care, Fundacion Universitaria de Ciencias de la Salud, Hospital de San Jose, Clinica universitaria Colombia UNISANITAS, Bogota, Colombia. ²Division of Research, Fundación Universitaria de Ciencias de la Salud - Hospital de San José/Hospital Infantil de San José, Bogotá D.C., Colombia. ³Iberoamerican Cochrane Centre, Biomedical Research Institute Sant Pau (IIB Sant Pau), CIBER Epidemiología y Salud Pública (CIBERESP), Barcelona, Spain. ⁴Clinical Biostatistics Unit, Ramon y Cajal Institute for Health Research (IRYCIS), CIBER Epidemiology and Public Health (CIBERESP), Madrid (Spain) and Queen Mary University of London, Madrid, Spain

Contact address: Ingrid Arevalo-Rodriguez, Division of Research, Fundación Universitaria de Ciencias de la Salud - Hospital de San José/Hospital Infantil de San José, Carrera 19 Nº 8a - 32, Bogotá D.C., Bogota DC, 11001, Colombia. inarev7@yahoo.com. iarevalo@fucsalud.edu.co.

Editorial group: Cochrane Anaesthesia, Critical and Emergency Care Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 7, 2015.

Citation: Molano Franco D, Arevalo-Rodriguez I, Roqué i Figuls M, Zamora J. Interleukin-6 for diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill adult patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015, Issue 7. Art. No.: CD011811. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011811.

Copyright © 2015 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

This is the protocol for a review and there is no abstract. The objectives are as follows:

To determine the diagnostic accuracy of interleukin-6 (IL-6) for the diagnosis of bacterial sepsis in critically ill adult patients.

1. To explore the effect of different thresholds in the accuracy of IL-6 for the diagnosis of sepsis

2. To determine whether the pathological source of sepsis (i.e. pneumonia, bacteraemia, urinary infections, among others) or other pre-specified sources have an influence on the accuracy of IL-6 as an diagnostic tool

BACKGROUND

The diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill patients with non-specific findings of an acute inflammatory process can be challenging and non-infectious conditions must be considered in the differential diagnosis (Harbarth 2001). The diagnosis of sepsis, in a significant number of cases, becomes clear after completing the patient medical history and physical examination. However, in other circumstances, such as in comatose patients, the diagnosis of sepsis remains difficult (Abraham 2000). Currently, the reference stan-

dard for the diagnosis of sepsis is based on clinical findings and the isolation of microorganisms. However, no single clinical or biological indicator of sepsis has gained unanimous acceptance (Bloss 2014; Boucher 1999).

Target condition being diagnosed

Sepsis is defined as a systemic inflammatory response syndrome in the presence of a documented or suspected infection (Dellinger

2013; Shankar-Hari 2015). Systemic inflammatory response syndrome involves changes, by unknown causes, of clinical baseline parameters, including body temperature > 38.3°C, hypothermia with core temperature < 36°C, heart rate > 90 beats/minute, respiratory rate > 20 breaths/minute or arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide < 32 mm Hg, a white blood cell count > 12,000/mm³ or < 4,000/mm³, or > 10% immature neutrophils (Rangel-Frausto 1995). Sepsis can be severe when it is accompanied by evidence of acute organ dysfunction or tissue hypoperfusion, and septic shock is defined as sepsis-induced hypotension despite of adequate fluid resuscitation (Dellinger 2013). Initially, in patients with symptoms of sepsis, the attending physician uses the term "clinically suspected infection" to indicate the suspicion of an ongoing infection, followed by prescribing immediate initiation of antimicrobial therapy and submitting a request for a complete set of tests to determine the presence or absence of an infection (Rangel-Frausto 1995). Currently, positive cultures are the only objective outcome to confirm this diagnosis (Naafa 2004; Sands 1997).

Sepsis originates as an infection with bacteria, fungus, virus or parasites (Dellinger 2013). One half (52%) of sepsis cases in hospitals in the United States originated from gram-positive bacteria (Finfer 2004). For bacteria to cause infections, they must evade the immune system of the host, either at the site of infection or in the bloodstream. Innate immune cells recognize pathogenic microorganisms by sensing common microbial structures known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns, such as lipoteichoic acid, lipopeptides, lipopolysaccharide and nucleic acids (Christaki 2014). The first barriers to pathogen invasion are the skin and mucosal surfaces. Neutrophils are the primary and most important cells that defend the host against invading pathogens. Other mechanisms of defence include monocytes and macrophages, cytokine storm, and complement activation. The interaction between cells and other mechanisms present unique features in the pathogenesis and they are under the influence of the genetic make-up of the host (Christaki 2014).

The worldwide incidence of severe sepsis is about 1 case per 1000 patients (standard deviation (SD) = 0.5), of which near 10% (SD = 4%) of patients treated at intensive care units (ICUs) are affected (Linde-Zwirble 2004). A retrospective cohort study in seven states in the United States that identified 192,980 cases of severe sepsis, with an estimated incidence of sepsis of three cases per 1000 persons at population level, and 2.26 cases per 100 hospital discharges; the authors projected an increase in severe sepsis by 1.5% per year (Angus 2001).Finfer 2004 reported that 11.8 per 100 patients admitted to an ICU between 1999 to 2000 were diagnosed with severe sepsis, with an incidence of 0.77 (95% confidence interval (CI) = 0.76 to 0.79) per 1000 adult patients. According to Kumar 2011, the mortality rate for severe sepsis decreased from 39% to 27% between 2000 and 2007. However, the rates of mortality were higher in persons with more organ systems failing. In 2011, the average costs for the treatment of severe sepsis were USD\$ 22,100 per case and expenses can be even higher depending on patient age, the need for surgical procedures, the presence of organ failure, and variation in costs charged by ICUs (Angus 2001). Deficiency of the immune system is a risk factor for the development of sepsis, which can be caused by functional asplenia, infectious disease or haematologic malignancy (Dellinger 2013). Moreover, malignancy has been associated with an increase in the incidence of sepsis, with a relative risk of 9.77 (95% CI = 9.67 to 9.88) as compared to non-cancer patients (Danai 2006). Complications associated with the onset of sepsis include acute renal failure, polyneuropathy, cardiomyopathy and multiple organ dysfunction (Latronico 2011; Puthucheary 2013; Romero-Bermejo 2011). Survivors of sepsis report persistent problems that can last for years after hospital discharge. About 50 to 70% of sepsis survivors report physical alterations (weakness and dyspnoea), psychological problems (post-traumatic stress syndrome and depression), cognitive (poor concentration and memory loss) and social issues (delayed return to work and loss of earnings) (Dowdy 2005). Management of septic stages remains a daily challenge for clinicians. Therefore, early administration of effective intravenous

antimicrobials is highly recommended due to its association with

a reduced mortality (Castellanos-Ortega 2010; Ferrer 2009).

Index test(s)

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is a cytokine secreted by activated monocytes and macrophages, which mediates a wide range of biological activities. Some studies have shown that administration of cytokines such as IL-1 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF), induce a state of shock with haemodynamic and haematologic alterations, which are classic characteristics of septic stages (Carson 1999; Dinarello 1997; Hauptmann 1991; van der Poll 1990). Both IL-6 and IL-1 play a role in the stimulation of the synthesis of adrenocorticotropic hormone in the pituitary gland. They induce the synthesis of neuronal growth factor, and regulate growth and development of haematopoietic cells and embryonic stem cells (Song 2005). IL-6 is an endogenous pyrogen which play a role in systemic changes associated with infection, tissue injury and in stimulation of hepatic protein synthesis during acute-phase responses (Kishimoto 1995). IL-6 concentrations can be measured with samples at different times during hospitalization, and several commercial assays have been employed to quantify IL-6 in plasma (Thompson 2012).

In healthy adults without an inflammation process, IL-6 concentrations range from 0.2 to 7.8 pg/mL; while IL-6 concentrations in adults with sepsis can exceed 1600 pg/mL (Thompson 2012). However, clinical response and the severity of infection affects the values of IL-6 in adults, but this relationship is not clear in children (Aneja 2011). On the contrary, IL-6 concentrations in newborns are 18 to 26 pg/mL with a significant decrease during the first few years of life without presence of infection (Song 2005). Some authors have reported elevated levels of IL-6 in paediatric burned patients without sepsis (Finnerty 2007).

Clinical pathway

Clinical presentation of sepsis starts with consideration of SIRS and immediate treatment is required. Management of patients with systemic inflammatory response syndrome, and suspected sepsis, includes infusion of solutions to replenish intravascular fluids, the administration of antibiotics, samples taken for cultures, and searching for microorganism(s) usually not found in culture of sterile tissue (Dellinger 2013). Current clinical practice guidelines recommend administration of effective intravenous antimicrobials within the first hour of recognition of septic shock, as well as empiric antimicrobial therapy, including one or more drugs that have activity against most pathogens (Dellinger 2013; Green 2008; Reinhart 2010). However, the problem of this strategy is the overtreatment of patients with noninfectious diseases, which can induce increased economic costs and antimicrobial resistance. Only in cases of difficult-to-culture pathogens or in clinical situations where suspected infection is not clear, the use of biomarkers to guide empiric antimicrobial agents have been suggested (Dellinger 2013).

Prior test(s)

No prior tests for the diagnosis of sepsis have been proposed. Identification of signs of inflammation and/or end-organ hypoperfusion by a clinical assessment are the basis of further tests, including blood tests and microbiological cultures (Dellinger 2013; Rizoli 2002).

Role of index test(s)

Diagnosis of sepsis is based on clinical symptoms. However, in early stages, classification still remains problematic. Blood cultures remain the standard tests for the diagnosis of sepsis, though the results can take 24 to 48 hours. Likewise, the results of the blood cultures may be undetermined with difficult-to-culture pathogens or when an empiric antimicrobial was administered (Dellinger 2013). Biomarkers used for the diagnosis of sepsis may provide faster results in comparison with microbiology tests, what results in an enhanced initiation of treatment (Boucher 1999). IL-6 appears to be a mediator of sepsis and its secretion is rapidly induced in the course of acute inflammatory reactions (Song 2005). Most patients with sepsis have increased plasma levels of IL-6 at their admission to the ICU (Waage 1989). High IL-6 levels have been directly associated with risk of death, especially death caused by intra-abdominal sepsis (Patel 1994). Likewise, an association between mean plasma IL-6 concentration over time and mortality rate has been shown. Persistent elevation of IL-6 appears to be more important than that of the initial or peak levels in terms of outcome (Pinsky 1993). IL-6 could be proposed as an early marker of sepsis. When the detection of IL-6 levels demonstrates high specificity and sensitivity, it could play an important role in replacing other diagnostic tools (i.e. microbiology cultures) that trigger empirical antibiotic treatment, and thus reducing unnecessary patient exposure to antibiotics (Gentile 2013).

Alternative test(s)

Currently, several biomarkers have been evaluated for the diagnosis of sepsis due to they might have the ability to improve early recognition and severity of this condition. For example, the use of C-reactive protein concentrations has been proposed as an acutephase reactant for the diagnosis of bacterial infections as well as a factor that can lead to a reduction of the mortality rate in septic patients (Onyenekwu; Silva 2014; Simon 2004). C-reactive protein levels are abnormal when the level exceeds 0.8 mg/L and may indicate the presence of a septic process. Likewise, the diagnostic value of procalcitonin has been evaluated in several systematic reviews with contradictory results (Simon 2004; Tang 2007; Wacker 2013). Other biomarkers, such as IL- 8 (Livaditi 2006) and triggering receptor expressed on soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (Gamez-Diaz 2011), have been evaluated without conclusive results (de Montmollin 2014). This current review will focus on one biomarker (IL-6) only and not include comparisons of diagnostic accuracy with other biomarkers. This is because there is a Cochrane protocol for a review in process assessing the role of C-reactive protein, procalcitonine and presepsin for sepsis (Onyenekwu in process).

Rationale

Despite the fact that sepsis is one of the first causes of mortality in critically ill patients, it lacks an accurate diagnostic test (Bloss 2014). In order to avoid unnecessary administration of antibiotics and to start appropriate therapy, an opportune differentiation of sepsis from other syndromes is a matter of importance. Some authors have reported higher levels of IL-6 in patients with sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction, but not in other conditions as trauma or cardiac arrest (Bloss 2014; Song 2005). Therefore, the detection of higher IL-6 levels could be useful in early diagnosis of these kinds of infections. Recently Jekarl et found that procalcitonin, IL-6 and protein C reactive might have an important role as diagnostic tests of sepsis from 18 biomarkers assessed (Jekarl 2015). Determining the accuracy of the detection of IL-6 levels as a biomarker for the diagnosis of sepsis might help to provide an adequate and timely management of critically ill patients, and could there with reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with sepsis. Furthermore, an accurate measurement tool may also limit hospitalization costs and potential antimicrobial resistance.

OBJECTIVES

To determine the diagnostic accuracy of interleukin-6 (IL-6) for the diagnosis of bacterial sepsis in critically ill adult patients.

Secondary objectives

1. To explore the effect of different thresholds in the accuracy of IL-6 for the diagnosis of sepsis

2. To determine whether the pathological source of sepsis (i.e. pneumonia, bacteraemia, urinary infections, among others) or other pre-specified sources have an influence on the accuracy of IL-6 as an diagnostic tool

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will consider diagnostic test accuracy studies which include patients aged 18 years or older with suspicion of sepsis during their hospitalization, where IL-6 levels are evaluated by serological measurement, as well as sepsis confirmation by means of clinical diagnosis and/or identification of microbiological pathogens in cultures. Studies should provide information about the specificity and sensitivity of the results. We will consider abstracts in the initial selection of references. However, if these selected references do not provide enough information for the assessment of the methodological quality, they will be classified as "Awaiting assessment". We will exclude before-after studies and case reports.

Participants

We will include studies evaluating critically ill adult patients aged 18 years or older (requiring mechanical ventilation and vasopressor therapy) with suspected sepsis. These will include participants from different clinical settings, such as emergency departments, hospitalizations wards and intensive care units. We will exclude studies of neonatal or paediatric patients with suspicion of sepsis.

Index tests

We will include articles with a description of the index test as the measurement of IL-6 in plasma as a sign of systemic inflammatory, metabolic, and physiologic activity. We will exclude measurements of IL-6 other than serum (i.e. pleural effusion, peritoneal fluid or cerebrospinal fluid).

Target conditions

As we mentioned earlier in the Background section of this report, sepsis is a systemic inflammatory response syndrome of the host as a consequence of an infection. Currently, the criteria developed by the International Sepsis Definitions Conference has been accepted to define this condition and these are illustrated in Appendix 1 (Levy 2003).

Reference standards

The criteria developed in 2003 by the Society of Critical Care Medicine, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine, American College of Chest Physicians, American Thoracic Society, and the Surgical Infection Society are accepted as the reference standard for the diagnosis of sepsis (Levy 2003). These criteria are described in Appendix 1. For the diagnosis of sepsis it is necessary to confirm the presence of infection in addition to signs of systemic inflammatory response syndrome. The presence of acute organ dysfunction or systolic arterial blood pressure of < 90 mmHg and a mean arterial pressure of < 65 mmHg are considered to be criteria for severe sepsis and septic shock, respectively.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We will search in the following databases:

- MEDLINE via Ovid SP (1956 to search date) (Appendix 2);
 - EMBASE via Ovid SP (1982 to search date);
 - LILACS via BIREME (1982 to search date);
 - CINAHL via EBSCOhost (1980 to search date).

We will design structured search strategies using controlled search terms appropriate for each database as well as free text search terms as outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook of Diagnostic Test Accuracy Reviews* (Deeks 2013). We will not use search filters (collections of terms aimed at reducing the number needed to screen) as an overall limit because those published have not proved being sensitive enough (Whiting 2011a). We will not apply any language restriction to the electronic searches. The Trial Search Co-ordinator of the Cochrane Anaesthesia, Critical and Emergency Care Group will help us run the searches.

Searching other resources

For additional studies, we will screen the reference lists of all relevant papers. We will also contact relevant authors for further details and on-going/ unpublished trials. We will not perform handsearching, as there is little published evidence of the benefits of handsearching for reports of diagnostic test accuracy studies (Glanville 2012).

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two authors (IAR, DMF) will independently identify potentially eligible studies based on title and abstract. We will resolve disagreements by discussing the paper(s) in question with a third author (MR). We will retrieve the full-text copy of each potentially eligible study identified after which the two authors will independently evaluate each study for inclusion or exclusion according to the selection criteria. We will document the study selection process in a Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram.

Data extraction and management

Two authors (IAR, MR) will extract the study characteristics from each included study, including data on assessment of quality and investigation of heterogeneity and transfer that information into a study-specific format, as described in Appendix 3. We will resolve any disagreements by discussion with a third author (JZ). We will cross-tabulate the numerical information from the index test results (positive or negative) in 2 x 2 tables against the target disorder (positive or negative) and we will present the results as tables (Appendix 4).

Assessment of methodological quality

Two authors (MR, IAR) will assess the methodological quality in an independent and duplicate fashion using the Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies (QUADAS-2) tool (Whiting 2011b), as recommended by the Cochrane Handbook of Diagnostic Test Accuracy Reviews (Deeks 2013). This tool consists of four domains: patient selection, index test, reference standard and patient flow. Each domain will be assessed in terms of risk of bias, and the first three domains will be also considered in terms of applicability. We will report the QUADAS-2 methodological assessment of studies using bespoke tables. Operational definitions describing the use of QUADAS-2 are described in Appendix 5. This format will be piloted against 10 primary diagnostic studies in order to standardize this assessment and to identify any possible disagreement between authors. In case of difficulties, we will make all necessary modifications. We will resolve any discrepancies by discussion with a third author (JZ).

Statistical analysis and data synthesis

For all included studies we will extract data from the 2 x 2 tables (numbers of true positives, false positives, true negative and false negatives) showing the cross classification between binary test results and the binary reference standard. For each study, we will calculate sensitivities and specificities and their 95% confidence intervals (Appendix 4). We will present results graphically by plotting estimates of sensitivities and specificities (both with 95% confidence intervals (CIs)) in a forest plot and in a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) space in order to visually assess the between-study variability. We will consider these findings in light of methodological quality of individual studies. We will use the Cochrane statistical software, Review Manager 2014, to document descriptive analyses.

If data with more than one positive threshold is reported within a same study, we will extract all data and present the findings graphically for each reported thresholds. However, to avoid inclusion of study data in more than one occasion we will analyse thresholds separately for the target population in question. We will perform main analysis with the most common threshold. We will pool studies only if they share a common threshold, are conducted in the same/similar setting and show sufficient clinical homogeneity (i.e. severe sepsis, shock septic). For meta-analysis, we will fit a summary ROC curve using a bivariate random-effects model (Reitsma 2005) and derive summary accuracy indices (sensitivity and specificity) and corresponding likelihood ratios. We will plot 95% confidence ellipse and prediction region around averaged accuracy estimates in the ROC space.

Investigations of heterogeneity

We will investigate heterogeneity initially by visual examination of forest plots of sensitivities and specificities and through visual examination of individual study results in the ROC space. Anticipated sources of heterogeneity include year of publication, country, setting (emergency, intensive care units, hospitalization ward, mixed), baseline diagnosis, origin of infection (pneumonia, urinary infection, meningitis), type of sepsis (severe, septic shock), and type of reference standard. Assuming that an adequate number of studies reporting study level covariates are available, then, we will investigate the effect of these covariates by conducting subgroup analyses in Review Manager 2014 and by including each of these factors as covariates in the bivariate regression model. We will assess model fit by using likelihood ratio tests. This will allow us to test whether sensitivity or specificity, or both, differed in subgroups of studies defined according to these covariates. We will use the Stata software to carry out statistical modelling (Stata 2013).

Sensitivity analyses

We will examine the robustness of the meta-analyses by conducting sensitivity analyses and excluding studies according to different components of the Cochrane's tool for assessing risk of bias (Higgins 2011). Our primary analysis will include all studies; sensitivity analysis will exclude studies of high risk of bias or with important concerns about potential applicability. We will report the

Interleukin-6 for diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill adult patients (Protocol) Copyright © 2015 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

results of the sensitivity analysis for each domain using a summary table.

Assessment of reporting bias

Quantitative methods for exploring reporting bias are not well established for diagnostic test accuracy studies. However, we will explore publication bias by regressing log (diagnostic odds ratios; DORs) on inverse root squared of effective sample size (Deeks 2005). We will interpret this analysis with caution given the lack of statistical power of this test and the absence of consensus about adequate methods to detect reporting bias in diagnostic test accuracy reviews.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Harald Herkner (content editor), Djillali Annane and Tomer Avni (peer reviewers), and the Cochrane Diagnostic Test Accuracy Working Group for their help and editorial advice during the preparation of this protocol.

REFERENCES

Additional references

Abraham 2000

Abraham E, Matthay MA, Dinarello CA, Vincent JL, Cohen J, Opal SM, et al. Consensus conference definitions for sepsis, septic shock, acute lung injury, and acute respiratory distress syndrome: time for a reevaluation. *Critical Care Medicine* 2000;**28**(1):232–5. [PUBMED: 10667529]

Aneja 2011

Aneja R, Carcillo J. Differences between adult and pediatric septic shock. *Minerva Anestesiologica* 2011;77(10):986–92. [PUBMED: 21952599]

Angus 2001

Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G, Carcillo J, Pinsky MR. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. *Critical Care Medicine* 2001;**29**(7): 1303–10. [PUBMED: 11445675]

Bloss 2014

Bloos F, Reinhart K. Rapid diagnosis of sepsis. *Virulence* 2014;**5**(1):154–60. [PUBMED: 24335467]

Boucher 1999

Boucher BA, Hanes SD. Searching for simple outcome markers in sepsis: an effort in futility?. *Critical Care Medicine* 1999;**27**(7):1390–1. [PUBMED: 10446842]

Carson 1999

Carson WE, Yu H, Dierksheide J, Pfeffer K, Bouchard P, Clark R, et al. A fatal cytokine-induced systemic inflammatory response reveals a critical role for NK cells. *Journal of Immunology* 1999;**162**(8):4943–51. [PUBMED: 10202041]

Castellanos-Ortega 2010

Castellanos-Ortega A, Suberviola B, García-Astudillo LA, Holanda MS, Ortiz F, Llorca J, et al. Impact of the Surviving Sepsis Campaign protocols on hospital length of stay and mortality in septic shock patients: results of a three-year follow-up quasi-experimental study. *Critical Care Medicine* 2010;**38**(4):1036–43. [PUBMED: 20154597] Christaki 2014

Christaki E, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ. The complex pathogenesis of bacteremia: from antimicrobial clearance mechanisms to the genetic background of the host. *Virulence* 2014;**5**(1):57–65. [PUBMED: 24067507]

Danai 2006

Danai PA, Moss M, Mannino DM, Martin GS. The epidemiology of sepsis in patients with malignancy. *Chest* 2006;**129**(6):1432–40. [PUBMED: 16778259]

de Montmollin 2014

de Montmollin E, Annane D. Year in review 2013: Critical Care-sepsis. *Critical Care* 2014;**18**(5):578. [PUBMED: 25673430]

Deeks 2005

Deeks JJ, Macaskill P, Irwig L. The performance of tests of publication bias and other sample size effects in systematic reviews of diagnostic test accuracy was assessed. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2005;**58**(9):882–93. [PUBMED: 16085191]

Deeks 2013

Deeks JJ, Bossuyt PM, Gatsonis C (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Diagnostic Test Accuracy* Version 1.0.0. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2013. Available from: http://srdta.cochrane.org/.

Dellinger 2013

Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, Annane D, Gerlach H, Opal SM, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2012. *Critical Care Medicine* 2013;**41**(2):580–637. [PUBMED: 23353941]

Dinarello 1997

Dinarello CA. Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines as mediators in the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Chest* 1997;**112**(6 Suppl):321S–329S. [PUBMED: 9400897]

Dowdy 2005

Dowdy DW, Eid MP, Sedrakyan A, Mendez-Tellez PA, Pronovost PJ, Herridge MS, et al. Quality of life in adult survivors of critical illness: a systematic review of the

literature. *Intensive Care medicine* 2005;**31**(5):611–20. [0342–4642: (Print)]

Ferrer 2009

Ferrer R, Artigas A, Suarez D, Palencia E, Levy MM, Arenzana A, et al. Effectiveness of treatments for severe sepsis: a prospective, multicenter, observational study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2009;**180**(9):861–6. [PUBMED: 19696442]

Finfer 2004

Finfer S, Bellomo R, Lipman J, French C, Dobb G, Myburgh J. Adult-population incidence of severe sepsis in Australian and New Zealand intensive care units. *Intensive Care Medicine* 2004;**30**(4):589–96. [PUBMED: 14963646]

Finnerty 2007

Finnerty CC, Herndon DN, Jeschke MG. Inhalation injury in severely burned children does not augment the systemic inflammatory response. *Critical care* 2007;**11**(1):R22. [PUBMED: 17306027]

Gamez-Diaz 2011

Gamez-Diaz LY, Enriquez LE, Matute JD, Velasquez S, Gomez ID, Toro F, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of HMGB-1, sTREM-1, and CD64 as markers of sepsis in patients recently admitted to the emergency department. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2011;**18**(8):807–15. [PUBMED: 21762470]

Gentile 2013

Gentile LF, Cuenca AG, Vanzant EL, Efron PA, McKinley B, Moore F, et al. Is there value in plasma cytokine measurements in patients with severe trauma and sepsis?. *Methods* 2013;**61**(1):3–9. [PUBMED: 23669589]

Glanville 2012

Glanville J, Cikalo M, Crawford F, Dozier M, McIntosh H. Handsearching did not yield additional unique FDG-PET diagnostic test accuracy studies compared with electronic searches: a preliminary investigation. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2012;**3**(3):202–13. [DOI: 10.1002/jrsm.1046]

Green 2008

Green RS, Djogovic D, Gray S, Howes D, Brindley PG, Stenstrom R, et al. Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians Sepsis Guidelines: the optimal management of severe sepsis in Canadian emergency departments. *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2008;**10**(5): 443–59. [PUBMED: 18826733]

Harbarth 2001

Harbarth S, Holeckova K, Froidevaux C, Pittet D, Ricou B, Grau GE, et al. Diagnostic value of procalcitonin, interleukin-6, and interleukin-8 in critically ill patients admitted with suspected sepsis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2001;**164**(3): 396–402. [PUBMED: 11500339]

Hauptmann 1991

Hauptmann B, Van Damme J, Dayer JM. Modulation of IL-1 inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties by IL-6. *European Cytokine Network* 1991;**2**(1):39–46. [PUBMED: 1651782]

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Jekarl 2015

Jekarl DW, Kim JY, Lee S, Kim M, Kim Y, Han K, et al. Diagnosis and evaluation of severity of sepsis via the use of biomarkers and profiles of 13 cytokines: a multiplex analysis. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine* 2015; **53**(4):575–81. [PUBMED: 25274957]

Kishimoto 1995

Kishimoto T, Akira S, Narazaki M, Taga T. Interleukin-6 family of cytokines and gp130. *Blood* 1995;**86**(4):1243–54. [PUBMED: 7632928]

Kumar 2011

Kumar G, Kumar N, Taneja A, Kaleekal T, Tarima S, McGinley E, et al. Nationwide trends of severe sepsis in the 21st century (2000-2007). *Chest* 2011;**140**(5):1223–31. [PUBMED: 21852297]

Latronico 2011

Latronico N, Bolton CF. Critical illness polyneuropathy and myopathy: a major cause of muscle weakness and paralysis. *Lancet Neurology* 2011;**10**(10):931–41. [PUBMED: 21939902]

Levy 2003

Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. *Critical Care Medicine* 2003;**31**(4):1250–6. [PUBMED: 12682500]

Linde-Zwirble 2004

Linde-Zwirble WT, Angus DC. Severe sepsis epidemiology: sampling, selection, and society. *Critical Care* 2004;**8**(4): 222–6. [PUBMED: 15312201]

Livaditi 2006

Livaditi O, Kotanidou A, Psarra A, Dimopoulou I, Sotiropoulou C, Augustatou K, et al. Neutrophil CD64 expression and serum IL-8: sensitive early markers of severity and outcome in sepsis. *Cytokine* 2006;**36**(5-6): 283–90. [PUBMED: 17368039]

Naafa 2004

Naffaa M, Makhoul BF, Tobia A, Kaplan M, Aronson D, Azzam ZS, et al. Procalcitonin and interleukin 6 for predicting blood culture positivity in sepsis. *American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2014;**32**(5):448–51. [PUBMED: 24512888]

Onyenekwu in process

Onyenekwu CP, Okwundu CI, Ochodo EA. C-reactive protein, procalcitonin and presepsin for the diagnosis of sepsis in adults and children (Cochrane registered title). http://archie.cochrane.org/ Assessed on November 18 2014..

Patel 1994

Patel RT, Deen KI, Youngs D, Warwick J, Keighley MR. Interleukin 6 is a prognostic indicator of outcome in severe

intra-abdominal sepsis. *British Journal of Surgery* 1994;**81** (9):1306–8. [PUBMED: 7953393]

Pinsky 1993

Pinsky MR, Vincent JL, Deviere J, Alegre M, Kahn RJ, Dupont E. Serum cytokine levels in human septic shock. Relation to multiple-system organ failure and mortality. *Chest* 1993;**103**(2):565–75. [PUBMED: 8432155]

Puthucheary 2013

Puthucheary ZA, Rawal J, McPhail M, Connolly B, Ratnayake G, Chan P, et al. Acute skeletal muscle wasting in critical illness. *JAMA* 2013;**310**(15):1591–600. [PUBMED: 24108501]

Rangel-Frausto 1995

Rangel-Frausto MS, Pittet D, Costigan M, Hwang T, Davis CS, Wenzel RP. The natural history of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). A prospective study. *JAMA* 1995;**273**(2):117–23. [PUBMED: 7799491]

Reinhart 2010

Reinhart K, Brunkhorst FM, Bone HG, Bardutzky J, Dempfle CE, Forst H, et al. Prevention, diagnosis, therapy and follow-up care of sepsis: 1st revision of S-2k guidelines of the German Sepsis Society (Deutsche Sepsis-Gesellschaft e.V. (DSG)) and the German Interdisciplinary Association of Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine (Deutsche Interdisziplinare Vereinigung fur Intensiv- und Notfallmedizin (DIVI)). *German Medical Science* 2010;**8**: 14. [PUBMED: 20628653]

Reitsma 2005

Reitsma JB, Glas AS, Rutjes AW, Scholten RJ, Bossuyt PM, Zwinderman AH. Bivariate analysis of sensitivity and specificity produces informative summary measures in diagnostic reviews. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2005; **58**(10):982–90. [PUBMED: 16168343]

Review Manager 2014 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Rizoli 2002

Rizoli SB, Marshall JC. Saturday night fever: finding and controlling the source of sepsis in critical illness. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2002;**2**(3):137–44. [PUBMED: 11944183]

Romero-Bermejo 2011

Romero-Bermejo FJ, Ruiz-Bailen M, Gil-Cebrian J, Huertos-Ranchal MJ. Sepsis-induced cardiomyopathy. *Current Cardiology Reviews* 2011;7(3):163–83. [PUBMED: 22758615]

Sands 1997

Sands KE, Bates DW, Lanken PN, Graman PS, Hibberd PL, Kahn KL, et al. Epidemiology of sepsis syndrome in 8 academic medical centers. *JAMA* 1997;**278**(3):234–40. [PUBMED: 9218672]

Shankar-Hari 2015

Shankar-Hari M, Deutschman CS, Singer M. Do we need a new definition of sepsis?. *Intensive Care Medicine* 2015;**41** (5):909–11. [PUBMED: 25643905]

Silva 2014

Silva BNG, Andriolo RB, Salomão R, Atallah ÁN. Effectiveness and safety of procalcitonin evaluation for reducing mortality in adult patients with sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010959]

Simon 2004

Simon L, Gauvin F, Amre DK, Saint-Louis P, Lacroix J. Serum procalcitonin and C-reactive protein levels as markers of bacterial infection: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2004;**39**(2):206–17. [PUBMED: 15307030]

Song 2005

Song M, Kellum J. Interleukin-6. *Critical Care Medicine* 2005;**33**(12):S463–5. [PUBMED: 16340422]

Stata 2013 [Computer program]

StataCorp LP. STATA 13. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP, 1985–2013.

Tang 2007

Tang BM, Eslick GD, Craig JC, McLean AS. Accuracy of procalcitonin for sepsis diagnosis in critically ill patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2007;7(3):210–7. [PUBMED: 17317602]

Thompson 2012

Thompson DK, Huffman KM, Kraus WE, Kraus VB. Critical appraisal of four IL-6 immunoassays. *PLoS One* 2012;7(2):e30659. [PUBMED: 22347395]

van der Poll 1990

van der Poll T, Buller HR, ten Cate H, Wortel CH, Bauer KA, van Deventer SJ, et al. Activation of coagulation after administration of tumor necrosis factor to normal subjects. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1990;**322**(23):1622–7. [PUBMED: 2188129]

Waage 1989

Waage A, Brandtzaeg P, Halstensen A, Kierulf P, Espevik T. The complex pattern of cytokines in serum from patients with meningococcal septic shock. Association between interleukin 6, interleukin 1, and fatal outcome. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1989;**169**(1):333–8. [PUBMED: 2783334]

Wacker 2013

Wacker C, Prkno A, Brunkhorst FM, Schlattmann P. Procalcitonin as a diagnostic marker for sepsis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2013;**13** (5):426–35. [PUBMED: 23375419]

Whiting 2011a

Whiting P, Westwood M, Beynon R, Burke M, Sterne JA, Glanville J. Inclusion of methodological filters in searches for diagnostic test accuracy studies misses relevant studies. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(6):602–7. [PUBMED: 21075596]

Whiting 2011b

Whiting PF, Rutjes AW, Westwood ME, Mallett S, Deeks JJ, Reitsma JB, et al. QUADAS-2: a revised tool for the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2011;**155**(8):529–36. [PUBMED: 22007046]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Criteria for diagnosis of sepsis

Criteria 1. Confirmation of infection

1.1. Diagnosis of an infection on the basis of microbiological evidence or clinical criteria

Criteria 2. Systemic inflammatory host response (at least two criteria)

- 2.1. Fever (> 38°C) or hypothermia (< 36°C) confirmed by rectal, intravascular or intravesical assessment
- 2.2. Tachycardia: heart rate > 90 bpm
- 2.3. Tachypnoea (frequency > 20/min) or hyperventilation (PCO₂< 4.3 kPa/<33 mmHg)
- 2.4. Leukocytosis (>12000/mm) or leukopaenia (<4000/mm) or >10% immature neutrophils in blood cell count

Criteria 3. Acute organ dysfunction (at least one criterion)

- 3.1. Acute encephalopathy: reduced alertness, disorientation, agitation, delirium
- 3.2. Relative or absolute thrombocytopenia: decreased in count platelet by more 30% or count of less 100.000/mm
- 3.3. Arterial hypoxaemia: $PaO_2 < 10kPa$ (<75 mmHg) while breathing ambient air or $PaO_2 < 250$ mmHg on administration O_2
- 3.4. Renal Impairment: Diuresis < 0.5 ml/kg/hr for at least 2 hrs

3.5. Metabolic acidosis: Base excess < 0.5 mmol/Lt or lactate concentration > 1.5 upper limit of normal

Severe sepsis criteria

- Sepsis induced hypotension
- Lactate above upper limits laboratory normal
- Urine output < 0.5 mL/kg/hr for more than 2 hrs despite adecuade fluid resuscitation
- Acute lung injury with $PaO_2/FiO_2 < 250$ in the absence of pneumonia as infection source
- Acute lung injury with $PaO_2/FiO_2 < 250$ in the presence of pneumonia as infection source
- Creatinine > 2.0 mg/dL
- Bilirrubin > 2 mg/dL
- Platelet count < 100.000 uL
- Coagulopathy (international normalized ratio > 1.5)

Based on information from Levy 2003

Appendix 2. MEDLINE (Ovid SP) search strategy

1. exp Interleukin-6/ or exp Receptors, Interleukin-6/ or exp Cytokines/ or (interleukin* or IL?6* or (diagnostic adj3 marker*) or procalcitonin or cytokin*).ti,ab.

2. exp Bacteremia/ or exp Sepsis/ or exp Shock, Septic/ or exp Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome/ or Critical Illness/ or (sepsis or septic* or bacter?em* or (critical* adj3 ill*)).ti,ab.

3.1 and 2

4. (child* or neonat*).af.

5. 3 not (4 not (4 and adult*.af.))

6. 5 not (animals not (humans and animals)).sh.

Appendix 3. Data extraction

Study name / date	Authors, publication date and number.
Setting	Emergency departmentIntensive care unit (medical, surgical, mixed)Hospitalization ward.
Participants	Sample size. Characteristics if reported: • demographics; • gender; • baseline diagnosis. Origin of infection: Pneumonia, urinary infection, meningitis, bacteraemia, abdominal sepsis Use of antibiotics (empiric management).
Study design	Sampling strategy. Duration of follow-up.
Target condition	Proportion of people with sepsis in sample. Subtype of sepsis (severe, septic shock), if available.
Reference standard	Culture. Clinical diagnosis. Type of culture. Culture and clinical diagnosis. Time between IL-6 assessment and reference test. Relationship between IL-6 value and initial empirical antibiotics Blinding of operator to IL-6 levels. Was any subset subject to a different reference test? Positive cultures: microorganism isolated. Clinical diagnosis: composition of expert panel, training.
Index test	Kit Name - commercial name, batch number. Who did the test? Training provided to operator. Thresholds used to define positive and negative levels for sepsis

Interleukin-6 for diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill adult patients (Protocol)

Copyright © 2015 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(Continued)

ng results for index and reference.
erline results for index and reference. and false positives
and false negatives. tivity and specificity of index tests.
1 1

Appendix 4. Results of the two by two tables cross-relating index test results of the reference standards

Index test information	Reference standard information		
	Sepsis present	Sepsis absent	
Index test positive	IL-6 positive & Sepsis (True Positives) at baseline.	IL-6 positive & No sepsis (False Positives) at base- line.	
Index test negative	IL-6 negative & Sepsis (False Negatives) at baseline.	IL-6 negative & No sepsis (True Negatives) at base- line.	

Appendix 5. Anchoring statements for quality assessment of IL-6 for diagnosis of sepsis.

Patient Selection	
<i>Was a consecutive or random sample of patients enrolled?</i>	"Yes" if it is well described in the paper (e.g. consecutive or a random sample from consecutive patients) "No" if the sample was non-random or patients were not consec- utively recruited "Unclear" if there is insufficient information to make a judgment on the selection of patients
Was a case control design avoided?	Self explanatory
<i>Did the study avoid inappropriate inclusions?</i>	"Yes" if inclusion and exclusion criteria clearly described and ap- propriate "No" if inclusion and exclusion criteria clear but include inappro- priate subjects "Unclear" if there is insufficient information to make a judgment on the inclusion of subjects

(Continued)

Could the selection of patients have introduced bias?	"Yes" if it is clear that bias is introduced through, for example, non-random selection "No" if the selection of patients is clearly described and does not introduce bias "Unclear" if there is insufficient information to make a judgment on the impact of selection on bias
Are there concerns that included patients do not match the review question?	"Yes" if included patients are inherently different from the cohort of patients who would be expected to receive IL-6 "No" if there are no such concerns. "Unclear" if patient characteristics are not sufficiently clearly ex- plained to make a judgment on patient inclusion
Index Test	
Were the index test results interpreted without knowledge of the results of the reference standard?	"Yes" if the paper states that the index test is interpreted by indi- vidual(s) who did not know the results of the reference test(s) "No" if the results of the index test were known by the individuals performing the reference test, or if the same individual performed both tests Unclear if there is insufficient information to make a judgment about test result interpretation
If a threshold was used, was it prespecified?	
Could the conduct or interpretation of the index test have introduced bias?	"Yes" if a subset of index tests were conducted or interpreted in a different manner, or under different conditions, or by people with differing levels of training "No" if it is clear that the conduct and interpretation of all index tests was appropriate and could not have introduced bias "Unclear if there is insufficient information presented to assess the potential of conduct and interpretation of the index test to introduce bias
Are there concerns that the index test, its conduct, or interpretation differ from the review question?	"Yes" if the index test is not IL-6 analysis for sepsis or if the conduct of test or its interpretation is not applicable to the review question "No" if there are no concerns based on the information presented
Reference Standard	
Is the reference standard likely to correctly classify the target condition?	"Yes" if the reference standard (culture or clinical diagnosis) used in the paper matches those chosen in this protocol "Yes" if the culture or clinical diagnosis is interpreted by appro- priately trained/accredited individuals "No" if either of the above criteria is not met. "Unclear" if insufficient information is presented.

(Continued)

Were the reference standard results interpreted without knowledge of the results of the index test?	"Yes" if the paper states that the reference test is interpreted by individuals who had not seen the reference standard results "No" if the result(s) of the IL-6 analysis were known to the indi- vidual performing the reference test
Could the reference standard, its conduct, or its interpretation have introduced bias?	"Yes" if a subset of reference standard tests were conducted or interpreted in a different manner, or under different conditions, or by people with differing levels of training "No" if it is clear that the conduct and interpretation of all ref- erence standard tests were appropriate and could not have intro- duced bias "Unclear" if there is insufficient information presented to assess the potential of conduct and interpretation of the reference standard test to introduce bias
Are there concerns that the target condition as defined by the reference standard does not match the review question?	"Yes" if the target condition is not sepsis or it is not clearly stated "No" if it is clearly stated that the target condition is sepsis
Flow and timing	
Was there an appropriate interval between index test(s) and reference standard?	"Yes" if the time between IL-6 results and reference standard was less than 48 hours "No" if the time is longer than 48 hours for a significant proportion of patients
<i>Did all patients receive a reference standard?</i>	"Yes" if all patients who received the index test also had the refer- ence test "No" if not all the patients who received the index test also received the reference standard, or if a non-random sample was selected "Unclear" if this cannot be determined from the information pre- sented in the paper
<i>Did all patients receive the same reference standard?</i>	"Yes" if the same reference standard was used for all patients "No" if different reference standards were used. "Unclear" if this cannot be determined from the information pre- sented in the paper
Were all patients included in the analysis?	"Yes" if there were no withdrawals or exclusions, or if those reasons are adequately explained with a flow chart "No" if withdrawals or exclusions are not explained or accounted for "Unclear" if withdrawals or exclusions cannot be determined or if there is insufficient information to judge this
Could the patient flow have introduced bias?	"Yes" if subsets of patients or samples were treated, included or excluded in systematic ways which could have introduced bias "No" if patient flow is reported clearly and does not have the potential to introduce significant bias

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Draft the protocol: IAR-DM-JZ-MR Develop and run the search strategy: IAR-DM Obtain copies of studies: DM- IAR Select which studies to include (2 people): IAR-DM- MR Extract data from studies (2 people): IAR-MR-JZ Enter data into RevMan: DM-MR Carry out the analysis: MR-JZ Interpret the analysis: IAR-DM-JZ-MR Draft the final review: IAR-DM-JZ-MR Update the review: IAR-DM-JZ-MR

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Ingrid Arevalo-Rodriguez has no conflicts of interest to declare. Daniel Molano Franco has no conflicts of interest to declare. Javier Zamora has no conflicts of interest to declare. Marta Roque has no conflicts of interest to declare.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

- Fundación Universitaria de Ciencias de la Salud, Hospital San José/Hospital Infantil de San José, Bogotá D.C., Colombia.
- Cochrane Collaborative Unit, Hospital Ramon y Cajal, Spain.

External sources

• No sources of support supplied